

Pacific Institute for Climate Solutions Knowledge. Insight. Action.

Strengthening **BC's Agriculture Sector** in the Face of Climate Change

Erica Crawford (Pacific Institute for Climate Solutions and BC Agriculture & Food Climate Action Initiative) and Rachelle Beveridge (PhD Candidate University of Victoria)

May 2013







The Pacific Institute for Climate Solutions gratefully acknowledges the generous endowment provided by the Province of British Columbia through the Ministry of Environment in 2008. This funding is enabling ongoing independent research aimed at developing innovative climate change solutions, opportunities for adaptation, and steps toward achieving a vibrant low-carbon economy.

All opinions and interpretations in this white paper are the sole responsibility of the authors and do not represent the position of the BC Agriculture Council, BC Agriculture and Food Climate Action Initiative, or any other partners involved in the Risk & Opportunity Assessment project.

PACIFIC INSTITUTE FOR CLIMATE SOLUTIONS

University of Victoria PO Box 1700 STN CSC Victoria, BC V8W 2Y2

Phone 250-853-3595 Fax 250-853-3597 E-mail pics@uvic.ca Web pics.uvic.ca

Edited by Robyn Meyer, PICS Senior Communications Officer.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

executive Summary	4
. Introduction	5
. BC's Agriculture Sector	7
2.1 Diverse geography, climatology and production types	
2.2 Limited land base under pressure	
2.3 Majority of small, family-owned farms	
2.4 An aging producer population	8
2.5 Doing more with less	8
. BC's Climate in the 2020s	9
. How Climate Change Raises the Stake	9
4.1 Variability	
4.2 Changes to average conditions and extremes	
4.3 Complexity	
4.4 Cumulative impacts	
4.5 Long-term view	
A Climate-Resilient Future for BC Agriculture	12
. Recommendations	12
Conclusion	15
. Endnotes	17

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The science to date is unequivocal: the climate is changing and getting warmer, and it is occurring faster than most climate models and projections have indicated. Recent extreme weather events—such as the 2012-2013 record high temperatures and drought in the United States (US) and Australia, Russia's heat wave and flooding in Pakistan in 2010—have demonstrated the vulnerability of agricultural production and food prices to these events that are projected to increase in frequency and severity as the climate changes.

British Columbia (BC) is not exempt. Its agricultural sector is also vulnerable to the direct impacts of climate change, as well as the resulting shifts in global economic conditions. The agriculture sector in BC is characterized by a high level of diversity, an unusually limited land base, the prevalence of small, family-owned farms, and an aging producer population. These characteristics impose a high degree of exposure to potential climate change impacts. BC's farmers and agricultural organizations are now being called on to take on increasing risk, costs and responsibility, with fewer resources at their disposal.

While coping with uncertain factors—such as weather and commodity prices—has always been a common element of farming life, climate change raises the stakes. But the common assumption that a warming climate will be a boon for agriculture production in northern climes is now recognized to be false—the full suite of projected changes indicates that the risks to agricultural viability are substantial. The scope, scale and pace of climate change are expected to exceed anything previously experienced. To the farmer on the land, this means that the past is no longer a sufficient guide to the future. Average and extreme conditions are shifting, complexity and variability are rising, and cumulative and long-term climate impacts are increasing.

This white paper builds on the findings of the BC Agriculture Climate Change Risk & Opportunity Assessment of 2012. The assessment is the most comprehensive evaluation to date of potential climate change impacts, risks and opportunities for agriculture provincially. It is based on perspectives gathered from agricultural producers and other specialists about the ability of farmers and their industry as a whole to adapt to a changing climate, and the approaches, tools and resources required to support such adaptation.

The focus here is specifically on the critical role that government policy-makers play in addressing the complexity that climate change imposes on the agricultural sector. In that context, the paper makes the following recommendations, all aimed to assist government in taking needed steps that will ensure BC agriculture's resilience into the future.

- 1. Review existing governance, management and policy-making structures to increase adaptability
- 2. Conduct collaborative, applied research (e.g. variety trials, risk assessments)
- 3. Enhance training and support for climate change innovation by farm businesses
- 4. Build the long-term capacity of the agriculture industry by enabling new entrants

- 5. Improve income stability for farmers in the short and long-term
- 6. Invest in climate-smart water infrastructure improvements
- 7. Integrate adaptation and agricultural impacts into land use planning and management
- 8. Continue to protect farmland through the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) and bolster the Agricultural Land Commission's (ALC) resources to support viable agricultural production in a changing climate
- 9. Lay the groundwork for large-scale transitions

Improving adaptation and risk management will require changes to specific practices, programs and policies, and shifting to a decision model that can proactively adapt to changing conditions. Governance structures are currently not designed to respond well to the level of complexity, interconnectedness and speed of change now upon us. The hierarchical nature of ministries can also create silos where information is not being shared or coordinated, thereby disconnecting decision-makers from what is happening on the ground.

Adaptation demands more integrated, collaborative and future-oriented governance structures. The existing knowledge and assets in the industry should be at the centre of strategies to enhance agricultural resilience, while providing additional resources and attention to addressing gaps and barriers that limit the industry's current adaptive capacity.

The resilience of the BC agriculture sector is already being stretched, even before climate change impacts are factored in. With an aging producer population, growing land use pressures, increasing demands and diminishing resources, action must be taken to avoid surpassing a critical point that will see BC's agricultural enterprise significantly diminished.

1. INTRODUCTION

Human well-being is dependent on the sustainable production of food in an increasingly globalised food system. Evidence and understanding of the potential impacts of climate change on food production is rapidly accumulating ¹⁻³, accompanied by increasingly urgent calls for agricultural adaptation to those impacts. ⁴⁻⁷

This message has hit home in recent years as extreme weather events have resulted in food shortages whose impacts have been felt around the world. Close to home the most extensive drought since the mid-1950s hit the United States in the summer of 2012, affecting 60% of crop and livestock producing areas there. As a result, significant increases in commodity prices and livestock feed prices are being felt in 2013.⁸ Prior to this, world food prices hit their highest point ever in April, 2011⁹ after a series of extreme weather events in 2010—including flooding in Pakistan and in Queensland Australia, an extraordinary heat wave in Russia, and intense late-spring rainfall in Saskatchewan and Manitoba— all contributed to major crop failures.¹⁰ These kinds of events are projected to become much more common as climate change progresses.

Global climate impacts affect the availability and price of many essential foods, as well as the economic conditions faced by BC farmers. Currently the province imports more than half its food, with the extent of self-reliance varying dramatically for different products .^{11,12,13} With an increasingly export-oriented vegetable and fruit sector, the majority of the vegetables and fruit consumed in BC are imported from California. Anticipated climate impacts in that state include diminished yields, shorter periods of crop development, reduced product quality, and shifts in growing regions suitable for specialty crops. ^{14,15} By the end of the century, the Sierra Nevada snowpack is predicted to be up to 70% lower than at present, which would lead to significant water shortages in California due to heavier reliance on already scarce groundwater resources. ^{14,16,17} This year may be a harbinger of climate change to come: Farmers in the western San Joaquin Valley in central California—part of the region that produces about one-eighth of the US food supply—were told by the U.S. Department of the Interior in late March that because of an abnormally low snowpack in the Sierras, they will receive only 20% of their 'normal' allocation of irrigation water in the summer of 2013.¹⁸

Important work outlining climate change impacts and adaptation for the agriculture sector in Canada has been done over the years, particularly looking at the Prairies, Ontario and the Okanagan region of BC.¹⁹⁻²³ The 2007 book "Farming in a Changing Climate" provides a comprehensive overview of research specific to adaptation for Canadian agriculture.²⁴ In 2011, a national review of agriculture and climate change adaptation was prepared for the federal government, outlining challenges, adaptation options and policy & research gaps.²⁵

Studies specific to the BC agriculture context have almost exclusively focused on the Okanagan region. Extensive research there has examined climate change impacts, vulnerability and adaptive capacity, water management and crop suitability for agriculture.²⁶⁻³¹ A multi-year, multi-partner project to develop an agriculture water demand model was developed in the Okanagan Basin and is now being transferred to other parts of the province.³²

This white paper is informed by the BC Agriculture Climate Change Adaptation Risk & Opportunity Assessment ³³, completed in 2012 and led by the BC Agriculture Council's Climate Action Initiative (CAI) designed to address the priorities identified in the industry's BC Agriculture Climate Change Action Plan. The assessment is the first-ever province-wide assessment of climate change impacts for agriculture. It brings together perspectives from agricultural producers and other specialists about their ability to adapt to projected challenges and opportunities in a changing climate, and also identifies approaches, tools and resources required to better support adaptation. Data were collected through interviews and focus groups with producers and specialists across the province. The complete provincial report and series of five region- and commodity-specific reports are available at www.bcagclimateaction. ca .

The overriding picture that emerges from this research is of an agriculture sector that has a great capacity for innovation and resilience, but its capacity is being strained by mounting pressures. This will only increase as the projected changes in BC's climate come to bear. Alleviating the pressure will require decisions to be made that promote resilience. This white paper offers recommendations that will assist policy-makers to identify and take steps to achieve this.

2. BC'S AGRICULTURE SECTOR

For most BC residents, the issues facing agricultural producers are not common knowledge, in part because of the shift of the population away from rural communities and farming life. Other changes have accompanied this transition. For example, contemporary production systems enable individual farms to produce much greater quantities of food and, consequently, the economics of production have shifted. Throughout North America, average farm sizes have increased and the number of farmers has decreased. The agriculture sector in BC, however, is characterized by unique circumstances: a high level of product diversity, an unusually limited land base, the prevalence of small, family-owned farms, and an aging producer population.

2.1 Diverse geography, climatology, and production types

Geography and climate in BC farming communities vary widely, depending on latitude, coastal versus inland location and topography. Accordingly, BC has a broad range of soil types but only a small portion of the land base is considered arable. The variation in land, soils and climate from one region to the next, supports production of more than 200 different commodities across the province.³⁴ While a range of farm types is present in each region of the province, certain production systems are concentrated in particular areas. The Peace region produces the vast majority of BC's grain, oilseeds and forage seeds, while most cattle ranches are located in the southern and central interior, the Peace region and the Kootenays. Most tree fruit and grape production is located in the Okanagan. The Fraser Valley, Metro Vancouver and Vancouver Island host a range of farm types, including berry, vegetable and livestock operations. The Fraser Valley is home to the majority of dairy and poultry production in the province, while greenhouse, nursery and mushroom operations are concentrated in the Lower Mainland.³⁵ Organic production is on the rise in the province, with 569 (2.9%) farms certified or in transition to organic in 2011 ³⁶, and another 2,700 farms reporting organic production methods without certification in 2006.³⁷

2.2 Limited land base under pressure

Less than five per cent of BC's land is considered arable, although up to 15% has agricultural potential. And only one per cent of the total land base is classified as prime farmland (class 1 to 3 in BC's Land Inventory classification system). In contrast, approximately 17% of Alberta's land base qualifies as prime farmland.³⁸ Of this very limited arable land base in BC, much sits in close proximity to urban areas. While the Agricultural Land Reserve has played a key role in preserving what little arable land there is for agricultural use, this has not prevented land prices from escalating. The average value of farmland in BC is more than twice the Canadian average, and significantly higher in regions close to urban centres.³⁹ In other parts of the province, resource exploration and extraction is placing pressure on land currently designated for agricultural use.

2.3 Majority of small, family-owned farms

BC has always had a high proportion of small farms. In 2010, 65% of farms in the province were under 70 acres in size, and 29% of these were less than 10 acres.⁴⁰ Shifts in recent years have been towards more small and large farms, and a decrease in mid-sized farms; farms with cash receipts of over \$500,000 increased by 7.1% between 2006 and 2010.³⁶ These are

predominantly family-owned or sole-proprietor businesses (68%) or informal partnerships (26%).^{40.}

Revenues of farm businesses in BC vary widely. In 2010 the 1274 largest farms (representing 6.4% of all farms) generated 74.5% of gross farm receipts in the province.³⁶ Over half of farm operators had off-farm jobs or businesses in 2010.³⁶ For a range of reasons, average farm gross receipts in BC tend to be lower than the national average.⁴⁶ In recent years, net farm income in BC as a whole has been consistently negative, in part due to the costs of production outpacing revenues.

2.4 An aging producer population

The knowledge, experience and assets of existing farmers are a highly valuable resource. However many farmers are now nearing retirement and in many cases there are insufficient new entrants into the industry to replace them. In 2011, 54% of BC farm operators were over 55 years old – up from 45% in 2006 – while only 5.4% were under 35.⁴⁰

2.5 Doing more with less

There are many examples of producers adapting and innovating to enhance resilience to climate change and variability. For example, many of the cherry growers in the Okanagan have been reaching new markets by developing value-added products or organizing new export opportunities. They have also mobilized to monitor and control the spotted wing drosophila, a fly that became established in the valley in 2009/10 and threatens the future of the entire industry.

A noticeable trend in BC, however, is that farmers are being called on to take on increasing risk, costs and responsibility, with fewer resources at their disposal. This pressure comes from both shifts in government policy and market conditions. On one hand, farmers face an evergrowing list of regulations and standards with which they must comply. When regulations around food safety or environmental standards are developed or changed, it is producers who bear the costs of compliance and learning, and shoulder the paperwork requirements. Producers and agricultural organizations are being increasingly stretched to fulfill roles previously served by government—for example, research and extension services that provide farmer education or share new knowledge on agricultural practices. As a result, it is not uncommon for these organizations to function in "emergency response" mode, having to address the most pressing issues of the day with little remaining capacity to attend to more systemic or slowly developing gaps and challenges.

In addition, as costs for inputs (e.g. seed, fertilizers, energy, feed, water), land and meeting consumer demands increase, BC producers are, by and large, price takers in a globalized market system. They sell their products to both domestic and export markets, but having a relatively small proportion of market share means that they have little ability to influence prices received, either locally or abroad. BC producers have always adapted to changes, variability and volatility, and in many ways are the definition of resilient. But the resilience of any system has limits, which becomes evident when climate change is considered in addition to the various pressures outlined above.

3. BC'S CLIMATE IN THE 2020's

The science to date is unequivocal: BC's climate is changing and getting warmer, and this is occurring faster than most climate models and projections have indicated to date. Over the past century the average annual temperature in BC has increased 1.2°C on average (between 0.5 and 1.5°C). Annual precipitation has also increased, on average by 22% (ranging from 10 to 50% by region), with the greatest increases in winter and spring.⁴¹ In terms of extremes, there have been more heavy rainfall events in the spring, and an increase in both extreme wet and extreme dry conditions in summer.⁴² There has also been an increase in extreme hot and decrease in extreme cold temperatures ⁴³, along with more frequent and severe wildfires.²⁷ The table on page 10 outlines the projected 2020s climate change scenario for BC (on average). In the Risk & Opportunity Assessment, this information formed the basis for focus group discussions with agricultural producers and specialists, to identify what the possible impacts, risks and opportunities would be for agriculture.³³

4. HOW CLIMATE CHANGE RAISES THE STAKES

Farmers are in the business of adapting to changing conditions. To be successful, producers must skillfully anticipate and respond to shifts in weather, markets, regulations and public opinion. For example, farmers and producer organizations undertake regular variety trials to be able to update and adjust to changes in growing conditions and technology. In areas where water is limited, technologies such as drip irrigation have been adopted to reduce water use and enhance efficiency. In interior and northern BC, a collective shift to no-till agriculture has enhanced the industry's resilience to changing conditions by enhancing soil health, increasing water retention and reducing costs.

But climate change takes the situation beyond what has been experienced in the past, and producers won't be able to weather these challenges alone. Already organizations and many individual farmers are being stretched to the limits, especially as government scales back its role in supporting areas such as research, extension and funding for infrastructure. Also, much of the existing experience and knowledge within the industry and the public service is on the verge of being lost due to farmers' retirement.

Variable	Time frame	Change	Description (BC Average)	Examples of Possible Regional Impacts
Temperature ⁴¹	2020s	Increase	 Continue warming trend Greater warming in north than south, inland than coastal, winter than summer Increasing frost free days and growing degree days 	 A longer growing season could increase the range of suitable crops in some regions and may increase productivity In the Interior, warmer winters may increase the frequency of rain-on-snow events and thaw-freeze cycles, creating hazardous conditions for livestock, increasing winterkill of grasses and management costs Warmer winters affect the survival and distribution of pests and diseases
Precipitation ⁴¹	2020s	Increase	 Continuing increase in annual precipitation (e.g., 0% to +7% by the 2020s) Increase in precipitation in fall, winter, spring, and a decrease in summer Significant decrease in winter and spring snowfall in most regions Increasing proportion of precipitation falling as rain rather than snow in most areas 	 In most regions, increased seasonal precipitation and flood risk increase pressure on drainage and water management and increase nutrient leaching Variable spring and fall precipitation affects pollination, and interrupts planting, harvesting and spraying schedules
Extremes	2020s	Increase	 Continuing increase in extreme hot and decrease in extreme cold temperatures ⁴³ Intensity and magnitude of precipitation events is projected to increase ^{42,44,45} More frequent and severe wildfires ²⁷ 	 More frequent droughts in various regions may decrease crop yields and increase costs Uncertainty exacerbates management complexity and risk in all regions In many regions, drier summers increase wildfire risk In the Okanagan, extreme heat events increase demand for water, cause sun scald, and reduce the size and quality of apples
Hydrology	2020s	Varies	 While total amount of runoff is projected to increase, peak flow volumes in the spring will decline and occur earlier ⁴⁶ Lengthening of the period of dry conditions and low flows in the summer ⁴⁷ Previously snowmelt-dominated or hybrid systems will be in transition to hybrid and rain-dominated regimes, which experience more unpredictable peak flows and increased risk of flash flooding in the winter There are few data available on soil moisture in BC. Snow-dominated and hybrid basins are likely to see an increase in spring soil moisture 	
Sea Level Rise ⁴⁸	2100	Increase	 80 to 120 cm at the Fraser River Delta 50 to 80 cm at Nanaimo 	• Increases risk of storm surge flooding and salination of productive land in the Fraser River delta

TABLE – BC'S FUTURE CLIMATE AND REGIONAL IMPACTS ¹²

While some climate projections are variations on conditions already familiar to producers, others represent fundamentally new challenges. Some of these are outlined below.

4.1 Variability

The projected increase in variability of conditions is a primary concern because it introduces a new level of uncertainty into decision-making. In a given year, for example, a producer could face both extreme wet and extreme dry conditions requiring decisions to be made in advance as to how best to invest already stretched resources, given limited information and experience with such conditions. Should projections indicate a shift toward more frequent extreme wet conditions, for example, producers could invest in drainage infrastructure and maintenance, or shift to more moisture-tolerant crops. But the projections do not suggest single-direction shifts. In most cases both wet and dry extremes can be anticipated, and few crop varieties can tolerate the entire range of extremes. Moreover, few farmers have the resources to invest in enhanced technology to deal with extremes at both ends.

4.2 Changes to average conditions & extremes

Changes to average conditions, such as annual or seasonal temperature increases, will require adjustments and could eventually drive significant transitions including expanded production or new crops in some areas. Increases in extreme conditions and the potential for abrupt shifts (e.g., the introduction and establishment of a new pest or disease) pose an acute risk to production systems. However, the unpredictability in timing and frequency of such events makes it difficult to plan for, or invest in, mitigating these risks. The viability of insurance programs is likely to be challenged if insurance is seen as the only way to cope. Some other issues—such as disruptions to pollination, inadequate water supply or salination of soils—are effectively unmanageable for producers.

4.3 Complexity

Overall, climate change increases the complexity of management and decision-making for agricultural operations. The scale and rate of climate change is such that traditional innovation and experimentation cycles may be inadequate to keep pace. For example, variety trials to ensure suitability in increasingly variable conditions may need to be conducted more systematically and in artificially adjusted settings. This is of particular concern for perennial crops that can take 10 or more years to come into full production.

4.4 Cumulative impacts

A succession of individually manageable climate change impacts can build to have an unmanageable effect. Large, high impact events are a major concern but a series of smaller events can also create significant pressure, and typically there is less awareness and support in this kind of scenario. A clear example of the impact this could have is associated with the insurance system referred to above. Currently, BC producers may qualify for payments in situations where conditions give rise to significant losses. The amount that is paid out to a producer is referenced to the farm's revenue over the past few years. While this may function effectively when extreme conditions occur quite rarely, when impacts occur in consecutive years it would simply serve to put a farm out of business more slowly. This is the kind of unintended consequence of a program design that is based on historical conditions—a model that is no longer appropriate.

4.5 Long-term view

Institutions and individuals tend to focus on shorter-term issues, and so adopting a long-term view will be challenging. This will be particularly so given that capacity is already stretched, and the prevailing mode of "emergency response" takes attention away from more systemic, long-term challenges or opportunities. The reduction in farm succession exacerbates this concern.

5. A CLIMATE-RESILIENT FUTURE FOR BC AGRICULTURE

Meeting the climate challenge requires that systems and institutions take into account the changing climatic conditions facing the agriculture sector. Governance structures are not designed to respond well to the level of complexity and interconnectedness and speed of changes now being faced. Four-year election cycles naturally favour actions with short-term paybacks. Decision-making that is isolated in "silos" of hierarchically organized ministries leads to situations where actions that are rational from the perspective of one Ministry, can completely contradict efforts in another Ministry. Similarly, a key challenge identified by participants is the disconnect between farmers' realities on the ground and decision-making in government. These structural issues compound the challenges of taking effective action on climate change.

Governance and decision-making can develop into more adaptive forms. The following adaptation principles are a starting point.

Principle	Application
Integrated	Interrelated aspects of the whole system are taken into account and coordinated. Climate change information and adaptation considerations are a standard part of decision-making.
Flexible	Policy and regulations enable decision-making and action that is responsive and adequately flexible to deal with unexpected and changing conditions.
Collaborative	Collaborative approaches to knowledge generation, planning and decision- making contribute to building capacity to deal with uncertainty and complexity. Decision-making and actions are enabled across levels of governance and stakeholders. Local and regional scales play a primary role.
Transparent	With a flexible system, the need for transparency, communication and trust increases. Transparency also facilitates shared decision-making and responsibility.
Proactive & Future- oriented	Action is taken in advance of pending challenges, and a longer-term view is adopted. The best knowledge available is applied, taking into account that uncertainty is an inherent part of climate change.
Resilient	Policies and regulations enhance the capacity to cope with change, variability and shocks, and to learn and adapt to new information and experience. Continual re-evaluation and adjustments are made.

6. RECOMMENDATIONS

Based on these principles, the following recommendations aim to ensure the resilience of the agriculture sector in a changing climate. While all agricultural producers and even consumers have a role to play in this, these actions are recommended for government policy- and decision-makers, who will play a critical role.

1. Review existing governance, management and policy-making structures to increase adaptability

- i. Embed the principles of adaptation into the design of policy, regulation and decision-making processes to enhance information sharing and joint decision-making, clarify roles and responsibilities and increase responsiveness of policy to on-the-ground changes
- ii. Directly involve producers, agricultural specialists and agricultural organizations in policy development and implementation
- Support long-term and strategic planning by agricultural organizations to deal proactively with the climate change (eg: through targeted programs and funding)
- iv. Plan for future food production and security

2. Conduct collaborative, applied research

The future will not look like the past, and so dealing with it constructively will require investment in applied research that spans disciplines and involves end users in its development. Specific areas of focus for collaborative research include:

- i. In-depth risk & vulnerability assessments for commodities in BC
- ii. Crop, breeding and variety trials, and experimentation specific to projected climate conditions
- iii. Application of climate-model projections to agricultural production needs
- iv. Development and assessment of technologies and practices that enhance resilience
- v. Monitoring and response programs to deal both with rapidly and gradually evolving critical issues such as pest, disease & weed management

3. Enhance training and support for climate change innovation by farm businesses

Adaptation and the societal benefits of farming provide value to all British Columbians, while the risk and expense is borne primarily by individual producers. To support the industry's capacity for innovation:

- i. Increase and maintain extension services for producers (e.g. technical advice, specialist on-farm advisors)
- ii. Develop new programming, incentives, tools and funding to support innovation by early adopters, and transition/change management for farm businesses
- iii. Provide targeted resources and support for diffusion of climate change adaptive practices, technologies and models. This could be modeled after the Environmental Farm Program.

iv. Assist with costs of transitioning to more climate-resilient business models

4. Build the long-term capacity of the agriculture industry by enabling new entrants

Facilitating a transfer of land, assets and knowledge to the next generation of farmers is critical to effective adaptation to climate change.

- i. Develop resources for more industry and post-secondary agricultural training within BC
- ii. Develop programs to facilitate the transfer of knowledge and assets from experienced producers to new farmers

5. Improve income stability for farmers in the short-and-long-term

Volatility in prices, international market conditions, regulations and extreme weather all influence farm incomes. Economies of scale, value-added production and supply management systems can buffer these vagaries to some extent. However, greater income stability is an important key in maintaining a viable provincial agriculture sector as climate changes. Toward this end:

- i. Provide greater investment and support for business development to enhance financial resilience for agricultural businesses
- ii. Review existing insurance, income stabilization and business risk management programs to ensure effectiveness in the context of greater variability and extremes in projected climate conditions
- iii. Develop programming and funding support for implementing business models that enhance financial stability for farm businesses (eg: supply management and value-added options)
- iv. Foster development of cooperative systems for purchasing, processing, distribution, marketing, insurance and infrastructure, particularly for small operations & industries

6. Invest in climate-smart water infrastructure improvements

A priority is the need for improved water management infrastructure to adapt to changes in seasonal hydrology. To this end:

- i. Promote and support water sources and storage infrastructure—regional and/or on-farm, as appropriate
- ii. Improve irrigation infrastructure and efficiency
- iii. Improve on-farm and regional drainage infrastructure, with attention to leased land where lack of ownership creates a disincentive to invest

7. Integrate adaptation and agricultural impacts into land use planning and management

Land and infrastructure development adjacent to farms can negatively impact agricultural production—for example by altering water quality, drainage, and nearby water courses—and this influences potential impacts and adaptation options for agriculture in the future. An integrated approach would include:

i. Ensure that water access rights for farming are guaranteed into the future in all provincial and regional water management policies and the Water Act

- ii. Conduct regional agricultural adaptation planning across BC and integrate recommendations into existing plans and policies of local and regional governments
- iii. Set provincial standards and/or enabling legislation to require agriculture and climate change adaptation considerations to be included in land and resource management and development decisions by provincial, local and regional governments

8. Continue to protect farmland through the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) and bolster the Agricultural Land Commission's (ALC) resources to support viable agricultural production in a changing climate

The ability of agriculture to adapt to future climate change hinges on preservation of the land base for agricultural uses. The ALR and the role of the ALC in strengthening agricultural production in the province are key assets that contribute to adaptability. Thus:

- i. Ensure the ALC has the ongoing resources needed to fulfill its mandate, including its recent commitment to re-focus on enhancing agricultural production
- ii. Integrate climate change impacts and adaptation in all decisions involving ALR land

9. Lay the groundwork for large-scale transitions

In the short-term, the emphasis will be on incremental adaptation actions that improve the resilience of agriculture in the face of climate change. But in more vulnerable parts of the province and industry, and over the mid- to long-term, climate change is very likely to affect agriculture in ways that will require more significant transitions or even whole-scale changes. By identifying options and planning ahead at a collective level, these transitions can be eased and supported for overall benefit.⁴⁹

7. CONCLUSION

The agriculture industry in British Columbia is unique in many respects. As such, climate change impacts and potential adaptations must be understood and developed for this specific context. The BC Agriculture Climate Change Risk & Opportunity Assessment provides a starting point for this effort, and has revealed an array of risks and opportunities facing the industry in light of projected changes to the climate in this region.

While it is commonly assumed that a warming climate will be a boon for production in a northern climate, the full suite of projected changes actually indicate that the risks to agricultural viability are substantial.

Improving adaptation and risk management will require changes to specific practices, programs and policies, as well as a shift to decision-making that can adapt proactively to changing conditions. This demands more integrated, collaborative and future-oriented governance structures. The existing knowledge and assets in the industry should be at the centre of strategies to enhance agricultural resilience, while providing additional resources and attention to addressing gaps and barriers that limit the industry's current adaptive capacity. The resilience of the BC agriculture sector is already being stretched, even before climate change impacts are factored in. With an aging producer population, growing land use pressures, increasing demands and diminishing resources, the stress on the industry will only intensify unless action is taken toward building long-term resilience.

Above all, the public and elected officials in this province are faced with a fundamental question: is a thriving and resilient agriculture system a priority for BC and, if so, what are we willing to do to ensure that its viability is maintained now and in the future?

7. ENDNOTES

1. Ziervogel G, Ericksen PJ. Adapting to climate change to sustain food security. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change. 2010;1(4):525–40.

2. Gregory PJ, Ingram JSI, Brklacich M. Climate change and food security. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. 2005;360(1463):2139–48.

3. Schmidhuber J, Tubiello FN. Global food security under climate change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2007;104(50):19703.

4. Beddington J, Asaduzzaman M, Clark M, Bremauntz AF, Guillou M, Howlett D, et al. What next for agriculture after Durban. Science. 2012;335(6066):289–90.

5. Ericksen PJ, Ingram JSI, Liverman DM. Food security and global environmental change: emerging challenges. Environmental Science & Policy. 2009;12(4):373–7.

6. Howden SM, Soussana JF, Tubiello FN, Chhetri N, Dunlop M, Meinke H. Adapting agriculture to climate change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2007;104(50):19691–6.

7. Vermeulen S, Aggarwal P, Ainslie A, Angelone C, Campbell B, Challinor A, et al. Options for support to agriculture and food security under climate change. Environmental Science & Policy. 2011.

8. USDA Economic Research Service - US Drought 2012: Farm and Food Impacts [Internet]. [cited 2012 Dec 18]. Available from: http://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/in-the-news/us-drought-2012-farm-and-food-impacts.aspx

9. Francis, J. A., and S. J. Vavrus, Evidence linking Arctic amplification to extremeweather in midlatitudes, Geophys. Res. Lett., 39, L06801,doi:10.1029/2012GL051000; 2012.

10. Maron, D.F. Extreme Weather Helps Drive Food Prices to New Highs: Scientific American [Internet]. [cited 2012 Dec 18]. Available from: http://www.scientificamerican.com/article. cfm?id=extreme-weather-helps-drive-food

11. Lee M, Barbolet H. Every Bite Counts: Climate Justice and BC's Food System. Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives; 2010.

12. Morrison KT, Nelson TA, Ostry AS. Methods for mapping local food production capacity from agricultural statistics. Agricultural Systems. 2011 Jul;104(6):491–9.

13. Morrison KT, Nelson TA, Nathoo FS, Ostry AS. Application of Bayesian spatial smoothing models to assess agricultural self-sufficiency. International Journal of Geographical Information Science. 2012;26(7):1213–29.

14. Lobell DB, Field CB, Cahill KN, Bonfils C. Impacts of future climate change on California perennial crop yields: Model projections with climate and crop uncertainties. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology. 2006 Dec 20;141(2–4):208–18.

15. Jackson LE, Wheeler SM, Hollander AD, O'Geen AT, Orlove BS, Six J, et al. Case study on potential agricultural responses to climate change in a California landscape. Climatic Change. 2011 Dec 1;109(1):407–27.

16. Cayan DR, Maurer EP, Dettinger MD, Tyree M, Hayhoe K. Climate change scenarios for the California region. Climatic Change. 2008 Mar 1;87(1):21–42.

 Hayhoe K, Cayan D, Field CB, Frumhoff PC, Maurer EP, Miller NL, et al. Emissions pathways, climate change, and impacts on California. PNAS. 2004 Aug 24;101(34):12422–7.
 Martineau, Pamela. San Joaquin Valley Elected Officials Express Concerns About Water Supply Reductions: Association of California Water Agencies[Internet]. [cited Jan 2013]. Available from:

http://www.acwa.com/news/water-supply-challenges/san-joaquin-valley-elected-officials-expressconcerns-about-water-suppl

19. Tarleton M, Ramsey D. Farm-level adaptation to multiple risks: climate change and other

concerns. Journal of Rural and Community Development. 2008;3(2):47-63.

20. Smit, B., Wandel, J. Adaptation, adaptive capacity and vulnerability. Global environmental change. 2006;16(3):282–92.

21. Smit, B., Skinner, M.W. Adaptation options in agriculture to climate change: a typology. Mitigation and adaptation strategies for global change. 2002;7(1):85–114.

22. Smit, B., Pilifosova, O. (first). Adaptation to climate change in the context of sustainable development and equity. Sustainable Development. 2003;8(9):9.

23. International Institute of Sustainable Development. Building Resilience on the Prairies [Internet]. 2004. Available from: http://www.iisd.org/climate/vulnerability/resilience.asp24. Smit B, Wall SE, Wandel J. Farming in a Changing Climate: Agricultural Adaptation in Canada. UBC Press; 2007.

25. Parsons GF, Reynolds D, Thorp T, Kushreshtha S. Farming with climate change: climate change ready farms. A Climate Adaptation for Resilience in Agriculture (CARA) Project. Agiculture and Agri-food Canada; 2011 page 124.

26. Belliveau S, Smit B, Bradshaw B. Multiple exposures and dynamic vulnerability: Evidence from the grape industry in the Okanagan Valley, Canada. Global Environmental Change. 2006;16(4):364–78.

27. Walker, I., Sydneysmith, R. Chapter 8: British Columbia. From Impacts to Adaptation: Canada in a Changing Climate. 2008.

28. Neilsen, D., Smith, C.A.S., Frank, G., Koch, W., Alilia, Y., Merritt, W.S., et al. Potential impacts of climate change on water availability for crops in the Okanagan Basin, British Columbia. Can J Soil Sci. 2001;86:921 – 936.

29. Neilsen D, Smith CAS, Frank G, Koch W, Alila Y, Merritt WS, et al. Potential impacts of climate change on water availability for crops in the Okanagan Basin, British Columbia. Canadian Journal of Soil Science. 2006 Nov;86(5):921–36.

30. Cohen S, Neilsen D, Smith S, Neale T, Taylor B, Barton M, et al. Learning with Local Help: Expanding the Dialogue on Climate Change and Water Management in the Okanagan Region, British Columbia, Canada. Climatic Change. 2006 Apr;75(3):331–58.

31. Cohen S, Neilsen D, Welbourn R. Expanding the Dialogue on Climate Change & Water Management in the Okanagan Basin, British Columbia. Final Report for project A463/433, Climate Change Impacts and Adaptation Program, Natural Resources Canada. Natural Resources Canada; 2004.

32. Van der Gulik T, Neilsen D, Fretwell, R. Agriculture Water Demand Model: A Report for the Okanagan Basin. 2010 page 62.

33. Crawford, E., MacNair, E. BC Agriculture Climate Change Adaptation Risk and Opportunity Assessment [Internet]. BC Agriculture and Food Climate Action Initiative; 2012. Available from: http://www.bcagclimateaction.ca/wp/wp-content/media/AdaptROseries-Provincial.pdf

34. BC Ministry of Agriculture. Industry Significance . . . Some Facts - Ministry of Agriculture [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2012 Dec 18]. Available from: http://www.agf.gov.bc.ca/aboutind/somefact. htm

35. BC Ministry of Agriculture. Industry Profile - Ministry of Agriculture [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2012 Dec 18]. Available from: http://www.al.gov.bc.ca/aboutind/profile.htm

36. Statistics Canada, Census of Agriculture 2011. Over a quarter of gross farm receipts from greenhouse and nursery production in British Columbia [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2013 Jan 2]. Available from: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/95-640-x/2012002/prov/59-eng.htm

37. BC Ministry of Agriculture. Fast Stats 2010: Agriculture, Aquaculture, and Food [Internet]. BC Ministry of Agriculture; 2011 [cited 2012 Dec 17]. Available from: http://www.agf.gov.bc.ca/stats/faststats/FastStats2010_R2.pdf

38. Smith, B. Planning for Agriculture [Internet]. Provincial Land Commission; 1998. Available from: http://www.alc.gov.bc.ca/publications/planning/Planning_For_Agriculture/ Chapter01/0101reference.htm

39. Statistics Canada [Internet]. Table 002-0003: Value per acre of farm land and buildings. July 1 [cited 2012 Dec 17]. Available from: http://www5.statcan.gc.ca/cansim/a26?lang=eng&retrLang=eng&id=0020003&tabMode=dataTable&srchLan=-1&p1=-1&p2=9

40. Government of Canada SC. Farm and farm operator data - 2011 Farm and farm operator data [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2013 Jan 3]. Available from: http://www29.statcan.gc.ca/ceag-web/eng/ community-agriculture-profile-profil-agricole?geoId=590000000&dataType=1

41. Rodenhuis, D.R., Bennett, K.E., Werner, T.Q., Murdock, T.Q., Bronaugh, D. Hydroclimatology and future climate impacts in British Columbia. Pacific Climate Impacts Consortium; 2009 page 131.

42. Stone DA, Weaver AJ, Zwiers FW. Trends in Canadian precipitation intensity. Atmosphere-Ocean. 2000;38(2):321–47.

43. Kharin VV, Zwiers FW, Zhang X, Hegerl GC. Changes in Temperature and Precipitation Extremes in the IPCC Ensemble of Global Coupled Model Simulations. Journal of Climate. 2007 Apr;20(8):1419–44.

44. Zhang, X., Vincent, L.A., Hogg, W.D., Niitsoo, A. Temperature and precipitation trends in Canada during the 20th century. Atmosphere-Ocean. 2000;38(3):395–429.

45. Christensen, J.H., Hewitson, B. Regional Climate Projections. Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. [Internet]. Cambridge, UK and New York, USA: Cambridge University Press; 2007 [cited 2012 Dec 17]. page 94. Available from: http://www.ipcc. ch/pdf/assessment-report/ar4/wg1/ar4-wg1-chapter11.pdf

46. Rodenhuis, D.R., Music, B., Braun, M., Caya, D. Climate Diagnostics of Future Water Resources in BC Watersheds [Internet]. University of Victoria: Pacific Climate Impacts Consortium; 2011 page 74. Available from: http://www.ouranos.ca/media/publication/165_ Rodenhuisetal.FinalReport.pdf

47. Pike, R.G., Spittlehouse, D.L., Bennett, K.E., Egginton, V.N., Tschaplinski, P.J., Murdock, T.Q., et al. Climate Change and Watershed Hydrology, Parts 1 & 2. Streamline Watershed Management Bulletin. 2008;11(2):1–13.

48. Bornhold, B. Projected sea level changes for British Columbia in the 21st century [Internet]. BC Climate Change Branch and Government of Canada; 2008 page 12. Available from: http://www.env.gov.bc.ca/cas/pdfs/sea-level-changes-08.pdf

49. Stokes C, Howden M. Adapting agriculture to climate change: preparing Australian agriculture, forestry and fisheries for the future. Csiro; 2010.



Pacific Institute for Climate Solutions Knowledge. Insight. Action.

> University of Victoria PO Box 1700 STN CSC Victoria, BC V8W 2Y2

Phone 250-853-3595 E-mail pics@uvic.ca Web pics.uvic.ca